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I. VINCENT DIVINCENZO WAS ENTITLED TO HAVE THE JURY INSTRUCTED

ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER.

Although the State concedes that Vincent DiVincenzo "did not intend to kill Joseph Novy,"

(State's Br. at 2), the State argues that there is no possibility that a reasonable jury could ever have

found Vince to be guilty of involuntary manslaughter, as opposed to first degree murder. As we have

shown in our opening brief, and will show again here, this claim is belied by (1) myriad cases holding

that weaponless fights of this sort are quintessential examples of involuntary manslaughter; (2) the

legal principles that distinguish involuntary manslaughter from first degree murder; and (3) the history

of this very case. These facts, cases, and governing statutes forcefully establish that Vincent

DiVincenzo was entitled to have his jury instructed on involuntary manslaughter.

A. Myriad Cases Hold That Weaponless Fights Of This Sort Are Quintessential

Examples Of Involuntary Manslaughter.

In our Opening Brief we informed the Court that our extensive research into the past one

hundred years of Illinois precedents has uncovered no case "in which a person has been convicted of

murder, much less denied an instruction on involuntary manslaughter, after a brief weaponless fight

with another able-bodied person of the same general size and strength." Opening Brief at 21.

Significantly, the State has offered no case to rebut this assertion.

Instead, the State seeks to rest its argument on the markedly different facts of People v.

Rodgers, 254 111. App. 3d 148, 626 N.E.2d 260 (2d Dist. I993). In Rodgers, the defendant had

threcttetled to kill the victim and then entered a home and began to attack the victim while he slept.

Initially, the defendant punched the sleeping victim "six to eight times in the side of the head as hard

as he could." ld. at 150, 626 N.E.2d at 261. After a brief pause, the defendant in Rodgers then

continued the attack, punching the victim "three to five more times," with each punch "splashing
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bloodall over." Ibid. The defendant continued this beating until the police were summoned. Based

on this evidence, the court held that "the brutality of the beating administered by the defendant,

coming qfter the defeJ_dam had repeatedly threatened to kill [the victim], precludes a finding of

recklessness." ld. at 153,626 N.E.2d at 264 (emphasis added). How can the State possibly suggest

that the facts of Rodgers are analogous to the facts of the case at bar? A person who, after

threatening to kill a man, beats that sleeping man to death, continuing to pummel him even though

blood is splashing all over the room, cannot be heard to deny that he knew there was a strong

probability of death or great bodily harm. But this has nothing to do with anything Vincent

DiVincenzo--who engaged in a brief fight with another fit young man and walked away after six

seconds--is alleged to have done.

Although the State does not offer any cases in which involuntary manslaughter instructions

have been denied on facts at all similar to this case, the State disagrees with our description of the

cases we have cited regarding the appropriate inferences from weaponless fights. The cases we have

cited, however, speak for themselves and could not be clearer in setting forth the general principle

that weaponless fights of this sort can most certainly constitute involuntary manslaughter (and are

generally not considered sufficient to support a first degree murder conviction). See Opening Br. at

27-30 (citing cases). We have cited at least a dozen cases in support of our showing that Illinois

courts, like other courts, have repeatedly held that weaponless fights typically support an inference

that the defendant possessed the mens rect of first degree murder only when: (a) there is significant

The State takes issue with the use of the word "fight," because Joe Novy never was

able to actually throw a punch State's Br. at 5 n. 1. It is clear, though, that this was no "sucker

punch" or other form of"ambush." Vince and Joe were arguing verbally when Joe initiated the

physical contact by pushing Vince and then cocking his fist to throw the first punch. Only then did

Vmce react by striking Joe.
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disparityin sizeandstrengthbetweenthedefendantandthevictim; or (b) the brutality, duration, and

severity of a massive beating shows that the defendant necessarily had intent or knowledge that the

natural consequences of his actions were extraordinarily perilous.

Indeed, the Appellate Court for the First District recently reiterated this rule:

Defendant notes that Illinois recognizes that death is not ordinarily contemplated as a natural

consequence of blows from bare fists. People v. Brackett, 117 Ill.2d 170, 180, 510 N.E.2d

877, 882 (1987) (and cases cited therein). * * * However, an involuntary manslaughter

instruction should not be given if the evidence clearly demonstrates that the crime was murder

and there is no evidence which would reduce the crime to involuntary manslaughter. People

v. Ward, 101 Ill.2d 443, 451,463 N.E.2d 696, 699 (1984). Factors to be considered when

determining whether there was evidence of recklessness which would support the giving of

an involuntary manslaughter instruction include: the disparity in size between the defendant

and the victim; the brutality and duration of the beating; and the severity of the victim's

injuries.

People v. Tainter, 1998 WL 24234, slip op. at 4-5 (1 st Dist., Jan. 23, 1998) (reproduced as App. B). 2

It is no surprise, then, that involuntary manslaughter instructions have been consistently tendered in

cases of weaponless fights, even those far more severe than the encounter involved here. See

Opening Br. at 44 (citing cases).

2 Based on these considerations, the court in Tainter held that the defendant--a 36-year-old

man who stood 5' 9"-was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction based on his beating

of a 56-year old woman who was 5' 2" tall. The court in Tainter also relied on the medical expert's

testimony that it "took a great deal of force" to inflict the injuries the woman suffered. Id. at 5.

These factors are obviously not present in the case of Vincent DiVincenzo: there was no size disparity

that favored Vince and the prosecution's own medical experts testified that there was no indication

of any significant force that led to the fluke occurrence that killed Joe Novy. See Opening Br. at 16.
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B. The Legal Principles That Distinguish Involuntary Manslaughter From First

Degree Murder Show That The Defendant Was Entitled To An Involuntary

Manslaughter Instruction.

In our Opening Brief we explained that the Illinois courts' treatment of weaponless fights fits

perfectly within the courts' broader jurisprudence on the difference between the mens rea of first

degree murder and the mens rea of involuntary manslaughter. The State repeatedly accuses us of

having misstated some of these principles, but, as will be seen, each of the principles upon which we

have relied is well-established in the caselaw. Indeed, it is the State's approach here--an approach

that wholly ignores the difference between the mens rea of first degree murder and the mens rea of

involuntary manslaughter--that is unfaithful to governing law.

To begin with, the State argues that there is no support for the proposition that first degree

murder and involuntary manslaughter are distinguished in part by the defendant's level of certainty

that his acts will cause death or great bodily harm. State's Br. at 3. We are at a loss to understand

how the State can deny this key difference between "recklessness" and "knowledge", which appears

on the face of the statutes and has been articulated forcefully in the series of cases we discussed on

pages 24-26 of our Opening Brief Perhaps the State feels compelled to deny this difference, because

to recognize it is to concede that a jury could easily have concluded that Vince was guilty of

involuntary manslaughter. Surely a jury could have found that Vince recklessly disregarded the fact

that his acts were "hkely" to cause great bodily harm, but that he was not guilty of first degree

murder, because he never knew that his acts created a "strong probability" of great bodily harm. The

legislature intended these words--"likely" and "strong probability"-- to mean something different, and

the jury should have been given the chance to decide where Vincent DiVincenzo's conduct fell on

this continuum.
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Similarly,weareconfoundedbytheState'sclaimthat weareaskingtheCourt to "ignore the

law" whenwe state that Vincent DiVincenzo was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction

because it was far from clear that he knew that his acts had a "natural tendency to destroy another's

life." State's Br. at 3, This venerable phrase--"natural tendency to destroy another's life"-- is not

our invention; it has been invoked by this Court on scores of occasions, including several months ago.

SeePeople v. Howery, 178 Ill.2d 1, 43, 687 N.E.2d 836, 856 (1997) (the determination of whether

a defendant is guilty of first degree murder turns on whether the "defendant voluntarily and willfully

committed an act, the natural tendency of which was to destroy another's life"). As we explained in

our Opening Brief, this standard gives meaning to the "great bodily harm" language that is used in

the first degree murder statute. See Opening Brief at 31-32 (citing official Committee Comments,

cases, and treatises for the proposition that the first degree murder statute deals only with acts that

are clearly dangerous to life) The State flees from this standard because, once again, it is so clear

that this standard does not describe the events of this case. Again, there can be no serious question

that a properly instructed jury could easily have found that Vincent DiVincenzo did not possess a

murderous state of mind, 3 and was guilty only of involuntary manslaughter.

3 The State attacks our use of the phrase "murderous state of mind" and argues that "there

is no such legal concept in Illinois * * * and no such state of mind has any relevance to this conviction

for first degree murder." State's Br at 12 n.2. Surely, though, the State does not contend that a

person can be convicted of first degree murder if he did not possess one of the mental states specified

in the statute--i.e., a murderous state of mind
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C The History Of This Case Shows That Reasonable Jurors Could Readily Have

Concluded That Vincent DiVincenzo Was Guilty Of Involuntary Manslaughter,

Not First Degree Murder.

Even the grand jurors--who heard only the prosecution's version of the evidence in this case--

initially voted that there was no probable cause to indict for first degree murder, although they

thought that some lesser form of homicide charge might be appropriate. The reason for the grand

jurors' doubts are obvious Given the evidence of a five or six second weaponless fight, not unlike

the fights in which teenage boys are too frequently involved, the jurors could naturally conclude that

Vince was guilty of something less than first degree murder because he did not know that his acts

created a strong probability of death or great bodily harm. Depriving the petit jury of the opportunity

to consider the lesser offense of involuntary manslaughter usurped the role of that jury and deprived

Vincent DiVincenzo of his right to a fair trial.

To draw attention away from the critical inquiry into whether Vince knew that his acts created

a strong probability of death or great bodily harm, the State places considerable emphasis on its

claim that "Vince made a deliberate decision to pursue Joseph Novy and to beat him." State's Br.

at 9 This claim is of no relevance to the issue in this case: whether Vince necessarily knew that he

was imperiling Joe Novy's life when he fought with him. The prosecution repeatedly conceded (at

trial and on appeal) that Vince never intended to cause death or great bodily harm. The talk about

a grudge, then, adds nothing of relevance to assessing whether a jury could have found that Vince

was reckless about the potential disastrous consequences of the fight.

In arguing about Vince's "grudge," the State contends that "it is important to make a

distinction between the fist fights that occur, as the defendant notes, each day in schoolyards or as

the result of heated interaction, and the unprovoked, premeditated beating that occurred in this case."
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State'sBr. at 7. The Stateapparentlybelievesthat thisargumentsupportsthetrial court's denial

of an involuntary manslaughterinstruction,but it actuallyprovesjust the opposite. The State's

concessionthatinvoluntarymanslaughterinstructionsareappropriatewhenweaponlessfightsoccur

"in schoolyardsor as the result of heatedinteraction"powerfully supportsVince's right to the

instruction.Thedefensepresentedtestimony(by thedefendantandbyDanFrasca)that thefight in

this casewas preciselythe kind of eventthat the Statenow concedescanconstitute involuntary

manslaughter--itresultedfrom a heatedinteractionduringwhich Vince andJoewere arguingand

duringwhichJoeinitiatedphysicalcontact Evenif therewereanyevidenceto supporttheState's

claim that this wasa"premeditated"beating,it wasup to thejury to decidewhetherthis wastrue

and,if so,whateffectit hadonwhetherVincewasguilty of involuntarymanslaughteror first degree

murder. Thus, the State's own descriptionof the governinginquiry demonstratesthe absolute

necessityof instructingthejury on involuntarymanslaughter.

Indeed,theStateagain(inadvertently)demonstratesthat Vincewasentitledto aninvoluntary

manslaughterinstructionwhenit reliesuponJanetBerens'stestimonyin arguingagainstVince's right

to the instruction. To defendits claimthat "this wasnot recklessbehavior,"the Statewrites that

"JanetBerens,aneighborwho observedthebeating,testifiedthat sheobservedthedefendantkick

JoeNovy threetimesafterhefell to theground." State'sBr. at 9. Surelythe Stateknows,however,

that it maynot relyupondi.s'])ttled facts to defeat the defendant's entitlement to an instruction on a

lesser included offense See Opening Br at 32-34 (discussing rule that court must look to evidence

in the light most favorable to the defense in determining whether there is any evidence supporting an

instruction on a lesser included offense). The defense vehemently denied that Vince kicked Joe Novy,

and both Vince and Dan Frasca testified that this never happened. Obviously, the defendant's
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entitlementto aninvoluntarymanslaughterinstructionmustbejudgedby thedefense'sversionof the

facts, not by the prosecution's The fact that the State feels compelled to rely (improperly) on

disputed evidence about alleged kicks to defend the refusal of the instruction speaks volumes about

its inability to defend this result under the accepted legal principles.

H. VINCENT DIVINCENZO'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE REDUCED TO

INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER.

The crux of the State's response to our argument that the Court should reduce this conviction

to involuntary manslaughter is as follows:

'Simple common sense,' the defendant claims, 'tells us that most fights of this sort do not end

up leading to serious injury, much less death.' Defendant's Br. at p. 46. 'Simple common

sense,' however, is not the law.

State's Br. at 10. This is a remarkable claim. The Illinois courts' decisions over the past century

have been predicated on the recognition--as a matter of common sense and experience--that a

defendant is not generally on notice that a brief weaponless fight creates a strong probability of

causing death or great bodily harm as envisioned by the first degree murder statute. The State is

asking the Court to ignore this body of accumulated experience and to deem Vincent DiVincenzo

guilty of first degree murder without regard to the impossibility of his knowing that this fight would

be the one-in-a-thousand that creates a life-threatening danger,

Whether Vincent DiVincenzo can be found guilty of first degree murder depends on his

mental state before and during those six seconds in which he fought with Joe Novy. The fact that,

unbeknownst to Vince, Joe ended up dying as a result of a fluke injury that no one could have

predicted has no impact on whether Vince had the mens rea to be found guilty of first degree murder.

Tellingly, the lone case that the State cites in discussing whether the mens rea of first degree murder
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wasprovedhereisacasedealingwith felonymurder--theonepartof the first degreemurderstatute

where intent or knowledgeof the strong probability of death or great bodily harm is of no

significance.SeeState'sBr. at 11(citingPeople v. Graham, 132 I!!. App. 3d 673,477 N.E.2d 1342

(1985)).

Ultimately, the only way the State can assert that Vince DiVincenzo knew that his acts created

a strong probability of great bodily harm is to argue that Vince was on special notice of the dangers

offistfights because he had once been in a fistfight in which another boy's nose was broken. State's

Br. at 11-12. If this prior incident has any relevance to this case, though, it points in exactly the

opposite direction. Knowing that a punch can break a nose is a far cry from knowing that a punch

can endanger someone's life, and this prior incident hardly put Vince on notice that fighting was a

life-threatening enterprise. Rather, like so many other teenagers who are exposed to fighting in

sports and elsewhere, Vince never imagined that anything more than relatively minor injuries were

likely to occur. Vincent did something very wrong when he fought that day, just as anyone who

fights does something very wrong, but he did not commit first degree murder,

We respectfully ask, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 615(b), that this Court reduce the

conviction to involuntary manslaughter and let this young man serve his time in prison and then make

a life for himself? One life was tragically destroyed as an unintended result of the fight on May 27,

1993. Although no one can bring Joe Novy back, it is within this Court's power to ensure that yet

another life not be needlessly destroyed.

4 In the event that the Court agrees to reduce the conviction to involuntary manslaughter, the

defendant hereby withdraws his claim for dismissal of the indictment as set forth in Issue III of his
Brief.
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Ill. THE GRAND JURY INDICTMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED IN LIGHT

OF THE PROSECUTION'S CONDUCT IN THE GRAND JURY.

This case squarely presents the question of whether there are any limits on prosecutors' efforts

to overpower a grand jury, particularly one which already completed its vote on the indictment at

issue. The three areas of misconduct involved here, especially when viewed cumulatively, show that

the prosecutors abused the grand jury in this case and that Vincent DiVincenzo suffered substantial

prejudice as a result.

A. The Prosecution Violated The Independence And Integrity Of The Grand Jury

By Unduly Pressuring The Grand Jurors To Reconsider Their Completed Vote
Of A No Bill.

Nowhere in the State's Brief does the State ever take issue with our claim that it is entirely

unacceptable for a prosecutor to implore a grand jury to reconsider its return of a no bill. Rather, the

State argues that this is not what happened in this case because (1) the grand jurors never actually

signed a no bill form after they voted the no bill and announced that vote to the prosecutor, and (2)

the grand jury told the prosecutor that, notwithstanding its completed vote of a no bill on the first

degree murder indictment, it was willing to consider lesser charges. The State makes this claim no

less than seven times in the course of its Brief. See State's Br. at 18, 19, 19, 20, 20, 21, 26. If the

State's position on this issue is wrong--and we will show that it is--then it follows that Vince

DiVincenzo is entitled to dismissal of the indictment.

The following transcript of the grand jury's colloquy after its vote of the no bill on first degree

murder demonstrates beyond any question that the grand jury had finished its vote on the first degree

murder indictment and never expressed any desire or willingness to reconsider its vote on the first

degree murder indictment:
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THE FOREMAN"

MS. CRESWELL:

A JUROR:

MS. CRESWELL.

A JUROR:

MS. CRESWELL:

THE FOREMAN

MS. CRESWELL:

A JUROR:

MS. CRESWELL:

A JUROR"

MS. CRESWELL

A JUROR:

(The Jury deliberated upon their verdict, afterwhich the following

further proceedings were had herein:)

We voted a no bill on this.

We are going to start up a little later this afternoon.

Let me ask you a question.

Can you come back with a lesser charge or can you bring this back to

another grand jury?

We can bring it to another grand jury, if there is additional evidence,

but --

Can you come back with a lesser charge?

The function of the Grand Jury is to decide, you know, what charge,

if any, is appropriate. If you are of the opinion that a lesser charge is

appropriate, then you can return a True Bill on a lesser charge.

That is what a lot of us were wrestling with.

Okay. Are you telhng me that you found a No Bill on First Degree

Murder but that you want to deliberate as to other possible charges?

Absolutely.

Okay, I can return this afternoon with the documents for a No Bill on

First Degree Murder, and I can bring you at that time the law with

re,wect to lesser offenses and you can continue deliberating on those.

Is that what you want to do?

"lhe record has to be absolutely clear that you are not finished

defiberating on the case. Is that what you are telling me?

As./ku" as P'irv/ Degree Murder, but a lesser charge, no.

That is what 1 will do, then. And there is one more indictment.

Ma'am, in the future, can we always change like thus, so if you were

to come in again, say with a charge like that in some other case, can
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wesayaNo Bill for that but a True Bill for a lesser charge? Is that

acceptable for us to do that?

MS. CRESWELL: Absolutely.

THE JUROR: We didn't realize that was possible.

Supp C. 10-12 (emphases added).

In light of this transcript, it is no more than a play on words for the State to claim, as it

repeatedly does, that the grand jury "wished to continue deliberating." State's Br. at 26. The grand

jury's willingness to deliberate further had nothing to do with the first degree murder indictment.

Rather, with regard to first degree murder, the grand jury had informed the prosecutor in no uncertain

terms that it had voted to return a no bill and had no desire to deliberate on those charges any

further. 5

The State's claim that the grand jury was not finished with the first degree murder issue must

turn, therefore, on the lack of the foreman's signature indicating a no bill. The State cites to a statute,

705 ILCS 305/17, that lists as one of the duties of a grand jury foreman the duty to write the words

"not a true bill"on a bill of indictment and to sign his name when the grand jury has not found the

bill to be supported by sufficient evidence. According to the State, because the grand jury foreman

had not written the words "no bill"on the first degree murder indictment and signed his name, the

grand jury was not finished deliberating on the first degree murder charge and it was permissible

5 In seeking to distinguish the various cases we have cited on this issue, the State argues that

these cases all deal with situations in which the grand jury had completed its vote and did not wish

to deliberate further. See State's Br. at 20-21. This is, of course, precisely what happened in this

case as well--the grand jury had completed its vote on first degree murder and did not want to

deliberate further on the first degree murder charge.
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therefore for the prosecutors to implore the grand jury to reconsider its vote not to indict on first

degree murder.

The State's claims about the foreman's technical duties are of no bearing on whether the

prosecutors invaded the independence and autonomy of the grand jury. That inquiry turns on

realities, not technicalities, and the reality is that the grand jury repeatedly told the prosecutors that

they had finished their vote and wished to deliberate no further on first degree murder.

Even if the statute the State cites on this point were relevant to the inquiry, though, the

State's contention that a grand jury cannot be said to have concluded its vote until the foreman signs

his name does not comport with the governing law. To begin with, this Court has held on several

occasions that nothing turns on the absence of the foreman's signature--even when the grand jury is

returning a true bill. See People v. Benitez, 169 Ill.2d 245, 252, 661 N.E.2d 344, 348 (1996) ("We

agree with the State that the mere absence of signatures is not fatal to an otherwise valid

indictment."); People v. Hangsleben, 43 lll.2d 236, 237, 252 N.E.2d 545, 546 (1969) ("the signature

of the foreman of the grand jury was required only as a matter of direction to the clerk and for the

information of the court") (citing People ex rel. Merrill v. Hazard, 361 Ill. 60, 62, 196 N.E. 827,

828 (1935)). Moreover, as we discussed in our Opening Brief, a separate statute, 725 ILCS 5/112-

4(e), provides that a written "'no bill" is entirely optional. See Opening Br. at 53.

As we have explained, though, even if the law did require the foreman's signature on a no bill,

it would be ludicrous to rely on that law to contradict the grand jury's explicit direction that it was

finished deliberating on the request for a first degree murder indictment. The reason that the foreman

never wrote the words "not a true bill" and never signed his name is that the prosecutor told the

foreman that she "would return [aRer lunch] with the documents for a No Bill on first degree
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murder." Supp C1I. At notimedidtheprosecutoreverinform the foremanthat hecouldwrite the

words "not a true bill" and sign his nameon the proposedbill that the prosecutorhad initially

presentedto thegrandjury. Nor did theprosecutorcomplywith herpromiseto returnaiderlunch

with the"documentsfor aNo Bill of first degree murder." It is perverse for the State to rely on the

lack of a signature to justify the prosecutor's behavior, when it was the prosecutor's own behavior

that kept the foreman from signing the no bill that the grand jury had voted. The grand jury could

not have been clearer about its final determination on the first degree murder charge.

Once it is recognized that this grand jury had, in fact, completed its deliberations and its vote

on the first degree murder charge, then the State's efforts to defend this indictment fall by the

wayside. The prosecution's violation of the grand jury's autonomy by pressuring it to change its

vote obviously prejudiced Vince DiVincenzo in the most glaring way: he was forced to stand trial for

a crime upon which the grand jury had already voted not to indict. See Opening Br. at 62-63.

B. The Prosecution Misstated The Governing Law And Misled The Grand Jury.

In our Opening Brief we set forth an extensive series of quotations showing the many times

that Mr. Kinsella's remarks to the grand jury distorted or ignored the element of"knowledge" in the

first degree murder statute. Opening Br at 55-58. We pointed out that although the element of

knowledge was properly described on several occasions, the accurate descriptions were far

overshadowed by the misdescriptions of the law, including at least six statements to the effect that:

• Vince could be charged with first degree murder based on what he "should have

known" (Supp. C. 17);

• Vince could be charged with first degree murder even if he did not intend to kill so

long as his "acts created a strong probability of death or great bodily harm" (Supp.

C. 19), and
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• The"knowledge"requirementin thefirst degreemurderis satisfiedsolong as"you
performacts,you know whatactsyouwere performing." (Supp.C.23)

We alsoshowedthe instancesin whichthe prosecutorshadledthejury to believethat involuntary

manslaughterhasno relevanceto this casebecausethe intentionalact of throwing a punch is

incompatiblewith thedefinition of recklessness.OpeningBr. at 58. All of thesestatementswere

madeaspartof aspeechin which, asthe AppellateCourt stated,"Kinsella commentedonhisbelief`

that first degreemurderwasthe appropriatecharge." App. 30.

TheStateadmitsthat theprosecutorssaidthesethingsaboutfirst degreemurder,andeven

admitsthat thesepassagesdo not accuratelydescribethe elementsof first degreemurder. See

State's Br. at 23 (admittingthat the"word 'knowledge' maybeomitted from the portionsof the

recordquotedby thedefendant"). Nonetheless,the Statearguesthat becausethe prosecutorsdid

describethe knowledgecomponentaccuratelyat times,the repeatedomissionof the knowledge

requirementatothertimesdid not prejudicethedefendant.TheCourt will haveto decidethis issue

byreadingthegrandjury transcriptitself (For theCourt's convenience,wehaveappendedto this

Reply Brief thetranscript of the grandjury's colloquy with the prosecutors. SeeApp. A). It is

criticalto pointout, however,that wearenot simplyattackingselectiveomissions,weareattacking

significantmisstatementsof what "knowledge"meansandwhat involuntarymanslaughteris about.

Mentioning"knowledge"afewtimesdoesnogoodwhenthegrandjury hasbeenimproperlytold that

"knowledge"simplymeansthatVince knewhewasthrowinga punch.

Thedistortionof theconceptof involuntarymanslaughter is equally troubling. By telling the

grand jury that involuntary manslaughter applies to "accidents" and that this case involved an

intentional punch, the prosecutors all but guaranteed that the grand jury would reject the involuntary
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manslaughteroption and indict Vince of first degreemurder (especiallysince the concept of

"knowledge" hadbeendefinedas"knowing whatactyou wereperforming"). SeeSupp.C. 9, 35.

Indeed, the prosecutor's description of involuntary manslaughter in this case was very similar to the

argument that the court condemned in People v. Cattirrez, 205 IU. App. 3d 231, 564 N.E.2d 850 (lst

Dist. 1990), where the prosecutor told the jury that recklessness is limited to accidents. The

Appellate Court had this to say about that contention:

Of greatest concern to this court are the prosecutor's remarks relating to "recklessness" and

"accident." Taken as a whole, they reflect a calculated and persistent attempt to misleadthe

.jury and to cot?_lse their understanding of the legal theory underlying involuntary

manslaughter. This line of argument had the greatest potential for prejudicing the defense

and for denying the accused a fair trial because involuntary manslaughter was the only theory

upon which the jury could have reduced the defendant's conduct to a lesser offense. As legal

concepts, recklessness and accident are not synonymous. Recklessness requires a conscious

awareness of a substantial risk of harm and a disregard of that risk. While an accident may

result from negligence, mere negligence is not recklessness. * * * Yet, as the State admits in

its brief to this court, the words "reckless" and "accidental," as generally understood by the

layperson, have almost interchangeable definitions. Based on the testimony and the physical

evidence, there was no possibility that the jurors could have characterized defendant's pulling

of the trigger as "accidental." Thus, an argument calculated to present the concept of

"recklessness" as equivalent to "accident, "' thereby indirectly suggesting that the jury could

logically eliminate both from serious consideration, had great potential for severe prejudice.

Id. at 264, 564 N.E.2d at 872 (emphases added).

It was these sorts of misstatements--about both first degree murder and involuntary

manslaughter--that apparently led the grand jury to tell the prosecutor that it was returning the

indictment "based on the clarification that you have brought forth." Supp. C. 36. The grand jury

transcripts show that far from "clarifying" any confusion that had been generated by the morning

sessions, Mr. Kinsella's exhortations to the grand jury served to muddle the law and led the jury to

misunderstand the elements of first degree murder and involuntary manslaughter.
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C. The Prosecutors Took Advantage Of A Blatant Breach Of Grand Jury Secrecy.

The State never even tries to defend the prosecutors' behavior in willingly obtaining

information that the prosecutors knew was coming straight from an illegal breach of grand jury

secrecy. Instead, the State argues that the defendant has not sufficiently proven that he was

prejudiced by the violation--that this ill-gotten information had any impact on the prosecutors'

ultimate behavior in the grand jury.

In making this argument the State ignores the fact that the defendant was denied his right to

an evidentiary hearing at which he expected to prove that the illegal breach impacted on the

prosecutors' presentation of the case. [n our Opening Brief we explained that the lower courts

misunderstood this Court's decisions when they denied the defendant his right to an evidentiary

hearing Opening Br at 60-61 (discussing People v. Lmzy, 78 Ill. 2d 106, 398 N.E.2d 1 (1979), and

People ex tel. Sears v. Romiti, 50 Ill. 2d 5 l, 277 N.E.2d 705 (1971)). The State has not even

responded to this point. It is plain, though, that the State cannot reasonably defend the Catch-22 of

(a) faulting the defendant for not showing that he was prejudiced by the breach while (b) at the same

time arguing that the defendant was not entitled to an opportunity to demonstrate that he was

prejudiced by the breach At the very least, the defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the

impact of the breach.

Ultimately, though, a remand for such a hearing should prove unnecessary because the other

independent grounds--especially when combined with the conceded facts of the breach of secrecy--

compel dismissal of the indictment in this case This Court's supervisory power over grand juries

requires the Court to step in and dismiss an indictment when necessary to "prevent perversion of the
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Grand Jury's process." In re May 1991 Will County Grand Jury, 152 Ill.2d 381, 393, 604 N.E.2d

929, 935 (1992). There is no other way to characterize what happened in this case.

CONCLUSION

.WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated in Argument II, this Honorable Court should reverse

the first degree murder conviction on the grounds that the evidence was insufficient and the Court

should either reduce the offense to involuntary manslaughter or remand for a trial on involuntary

manslaughter.

As a less preferred altemative to the relief set forth in Argument II, this Court should, for the

reasons stated in Argument I, reverse the conviction and remand for a trial at which the jury is given

an involuntary manslaughter instruction.

As a less preferred alternative to the relief set forth in Argument II, this Court should, for the

reasons stated in Argument III, dismiss the indictment against Vincent DiVincenzo.

ResJsubmitted,

Lawrence C. Marshall

Northwestern University Legal Clinic
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Chicago, Illinois 60611

(312) 503-7412

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant

Of (bunse/.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) SS.

COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

BEFORE THE GRAND JURY OF DU PAGE COUNTY

THE PEOPLE OF THE

STATE OF ILLINOIS,

Plaintiff;

-vs -

.

)
)
) NO. 93 CF 1106-01

)

VINCENT DI VINCENZO, JR. , )

)

Defendant . )

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had before

the Grand Jury of DuPage County, on

Wednesday, the 16th day of June, A.D. 1993.

PRESENT:

MR. JAMES E. RYAN, State's Attorney

of DuPage County, by:

MS. KATHRYN CRESWELL,

Assistant State's Attorney,

appeared on behalf of

The People of the

State of Illinois.
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(The following

proceedings were had

herein, not previously

transcribed, taken

prior to the testimony

of Witness Falcone:)

For the record, I'm Kathryn

Creswell, Assistant State's Attorney.

This morning, as promised, you are

going to hear evidence regarding an incident

that occurred on May the 27th of 1993

between Joseph Novy and Vincent DiVincenzo,

Jr.

At the conclusion of today's

proceedings, I am going to ask the Grand

Jury to consider returning a one count

indictment against Vincent Divincenzo, Jr.,

for First Degree Murder, and the proposed

indictment alleges that on May 27th of 1993,

at and within DuPage County, Illinois,

Vincent DiVincenzo, Jr., committed the

offense of First Degree Murder in that the

said defendant, without lawful --

cX
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justification, struck Joseph Novy in the

head and kicked Joseph Novy, knowing that

such acts created a strong probability of

great bodily harm to Joseph Novy, thereby

causing the death of Joseph Novy, in

violation of 720ILCS5/9-I (a) (2) .

First _egre= M_ird_r;1_ke many other

offenses, can be charged a number of

different ways. There is a number of

different ways to word it. What we are

proposing is just one of many ways, and I

want to read that section to you.

9-1(a) (2) says as follows:

"A person who kills an individual

without lawful justification commits First

Degree Murder if, in performing the acts

which caused the death, he knows that such

acts create a strong probability of death or

great bodily harm to that individual or

another."

I want to point out that there is

nothing in that provision that talks about

intent. If it is charged under this

section, we are not required to pro_ that
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he intended to kill him or that he was

premeditated.

Let me read it to you again.

"A person who kills an individual

without lawful justification commits First

Degree Murder if, in performing the acts

acts create a strong probability of death or

great bodily harm to that individual or

another."

And the proposed indictment alleges

that Vincent DiVincenzo, Jr., without lawful

justification, struck Joseph Novy in the

head and kicked Joseph Novy, knowing that

such acts created a strong probability of

great bodily harm to Joseph Novy, thereby

causing the death of Joseph Novy.

The Grand Jury has the right to

question and subpoena any person against

whom the State's Attorney is seeking a Bill

of Indictment, or any other person, and to

obtain or examine any documents or

transcripts relevant to the matter being

prosecuted by the State's Attorney. --
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I have two witnesses I want to

present, and then a police officer and tape

recording -- actually two tape recordings to

play during the testimony of the officer.

Does anyone have any questions about

the indictment as it is worded, or about the

(No response.)

MS. CRESWELL: Okay, I will get the

first witness.

(The following

proceedings were had

herein, not previously

transcribed, taken

preceeding the

testimony of Witness

Wall:)

A JUROR: You are charging the accused

here with the strongest degree of homicide

that you can_ short of a specific intent

crime; is that correct?

MS. CRESWELL: As I indicated earlier,

First Degree Murder can be charged a-_number
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of different ways.

For example, another way you could

charge it, it says, in 9-1(a) (i) , "A person

who kills an individual without lawful

justification commits First Degree Murder

if, in performing the acts which caused the

bodily harm to that individual or another,

or knows that such acts will cause death to

that individual or another."

There is a number of different ways

to word an indictment because there is a

number of different ways the Legislature has

determined constitutes First Degree Murder.

The way it has been drafted right

now is, under 9-1(a) (2) , that he knew that

his acts created a strong probability of

great bodily harm. It does not include the

element of intent.

THE JUROR: I am aware of that, but you

could have charged him w_th just plain

Homicide where he didn't know t_at the death

would occur, but obviously did.

MS. CRESWELL: Well, the way thi-"
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indictment is worded, it is not that he knew

that death would occur.

THE JUROR: I'm not asking you the way

the indictment has been written. I'm asking

you, he could have been charged with

something less than the indictment is

is being charged with Homicide.

MS. CRESWELL: Well, there is no such

offense as Homicide. Under the statute,

First Degree --

A JUROR: He could have been charged

with Second Degree, I think is what he is

trying to say.

MS. CRESWELL: Well, Second Degree

Murder, and then there is Involuntary

Manslaughter, and do you want me to read

those portions of the law?

A JUROR: No. I am having a lot of

difficulty with the charges. I don't know

about the rest of them, but I am having a

lot of difficulty.

A JUROR: What is Involuntary

Manslaughter?
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MS. CRESWELL: Involuntary Manslaughter

says: "A person who unintentionally kills

an individual without lawful justification

commits involuntary manslaughter if his

acts, whether lawful or unlawful which

caused the death are such as is likely to

and he performs them recklessly, except in

cases in which the cause of death consists

of the driving of a motor vehicle, in which

case the person commits reckless homicide."

A reckless act implies it was an

accident.

And what we are talking about here

is a punch, a deliberate punch. The punch

itself was an intentional act, and that is

why the section is worded such that he

performs an act which does cause the death

and he knows that his act creates a strong

probability of great bodily harm.

I have a lot of problems withA JUROR:

this.

A JUROR: But still, my thing is, would

it be Aggravated Assault and Battery? _
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A JUROR: Well, we should excuse the

State's Attorney.

MS. CRESWELL: And just so you know, we

can start a little bit later this afternoon.

THE FOREMAN:

this.

MS. CRESWELL:

(The Jury deliberated

upon their verdict,

afterwhich the

following further

proceedings were had

herein:)

We voted a no bill on

We are going to start up

a little later this afternoon.

A JUROR: Let me ask you a question.

Can you come back with a lesser

charge or can you bring this back to another

Grand Jury?

MS. CRESWELL: We can bring it to

another Grand Jury, if there is additional

evidence, but --

A JUROR:

lesser charge?

MS. CRESWELL:

Can you come back with a

The function of t_e Grand

Q_O
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Jury is to decide, you know, what charge, if

any, is appropriate. If you are of the

opinion that a lesser charge is appropriate,

then you can return a True Bill on a lesser

charge.

THE FOREMAN: That is what a lot of us

_;_r_ _:restling with.

MS. CRESWELL: Okay. Are you telling me

that you found a No Bill on First Degree

Murder but that you want to deliberate as to

other possible charges?

A JUROR: Absolutely.

MS. CRESWELL: Okay, I can return this

afternoon with the documents for a No Bill

on First Degree Murder, and I can bring you

at that time the law with respect to lesser

offenses and you can continue deliberating

on those.

Is that what you want to do?

The record has to be absolutely

clear that you are not finished deliberating

on the case.

me?

A JUROR:

Is that what you are telling

As far as First Degree'-Murder,
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but a lesser charge, no.

MS. CRESWELL: That is what I will do,

then. And there is one more indictment.

A JUROR: Ma'am• in the future, can we

always change like this• so if you were to

come in again• say, with a charge like that

that but a True Bill for a lesser charge?

Is that acceptable for us to do that?

MS. CRESWELL: Absolutely.

THE JUROR_ We didn't realize that was

possible.

Ii
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(The Grand Jury

heard other matters

on the calendar,

recessed for lunch,

heard other matters

on the calendar,

after which the

following further

proceedings were had

herein, not previously

transcribed,

Assistant State's

Attorney John Kinsella

present:)

MR. KINSELLA: Good afternoon.

I came up here to speak to you for a

while.

My understanding is this morning

there was evidence in a case presented to

you, and my concern, and what I would like

to address right now with you is whether you

all have a clear understanding of what the

law is. Okay? Because it is our

obligation, as the State's Attorneys, to
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advise you as to the law. I can't tell you

what the facts are. I can make reasonable

inferences. I think the facts have been

established, but ultimately, the facts are

up to you, but the law is what concerns me.

If it is the impression -- well,

firz _ _ all, i_ _ _,, _

I would suggest to you that if there

is -- excuse me fo_ turning my back -- if

there is information that you are relying

upon which was not presented in testimony by

any of the witnesses, I would suggest that

you point that out. If anybody has a

problem with being objective in this case,

you should point that out.

I'm not going to say that you will

be automatically excluded, but it is

important that any extraneous considerations

are being made known.

The oath you took requires you to

not indict someone or fail to indict

someone, based upon any fear or favor.

I would suggest to you that includes

attitudes of sympathy and leniency, _nd it
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is up to the State's Attorney handling the

case, once probable cause is determined, to

exercise leniency that we feel is

appropriate, and the Court in sentencing, to

exercise leniency.

I would suggest to you that it is

probable cause in light of the facts simply

because there is a feeling of sympathy

towards the accused, and his age or his

background or his good character, or for

that matter, on the opposite side of the

coin, bad character. Those are not proper

considerations.

Your decision is whether there is

probable cause to believe that a crime was

committed and that this person committed it.

From what I understand, it is not a

question so much in this case as the "who,"

but what crime.

As I told you when I selected you,

that that quite often is the most difficult

case, is to decide not cases of who did it,

but what did they do?
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Now, as to the question of the law,

the charge that I believe was presented to

you for your consideration does not require

the defendant have an intent to kill. That

is a different subsection of the Murder

Statute.

So_eon_ that pc ...... _ .............

top of a tower or points a high powered

rifle at somebody's head and pulls a

trigger, I suggest to you those facts

establish an intent to kill, and there is a

section in the statute for a crime which

alleges that the act was done with an intent

to kill.

The section we are dealing with here

is whether the act was done knowin_ that it

created a strong probability _r death or

great bodily harm.

The law defines Great Bodily Harm.

This is in the context of the Aggravated

Battery, "No£ necessarily susceptible to

precise legal definition, but physical

beating may qualify as conduct that could

cause great bodily harm," and the question

15
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is not what the victim did or did not do to

treat the injuries inflicted in this

particular case, but what injuries did, in

fact, the victim receive.

As I understand it, the evidence

established that there was a broken jaw on

rupture -- what was the precise --

MS. CRESWELL:

was the testimony.

MR. KINSELLA:

Sub-arachnoid hemorrhage,

Those are the injuries.

The question is whether the conduct

of the defendant, whether there is probable

cause to believe that the conduct of the

defendant was done, Knowing that his acts

created a strong probability of great bodily

harm.

You can look and consider what the

consequences were. Okay? Because quite

often the way a beating is done is not

measured by amounts of pressure per square

inch administered through the fist to the

face. You look quite often at the results

to determine what this person knew _r s_ould
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have known would be the probable consequences.

_.%d you have a situation where the results

are a broken bone in the face and the injury

that Ms. Creswell just described.

Now, the question is whether there

is probable cause to believe that the acts

those injuries, are acts which were done

knowing that such acts created a strong

probability of death or great bodily harm.

The law is clear. Beating with

fists and kicking, if that's what the facts

are, can result in and constitute Murder.

Just so you are aware of that.

There is cases prior to this case

where murder convictions have been sustained

where the facts and evidence involved

beating and kicking. It does not require

the use of a deadly weapon.

"To sustain a murder conviction -- "

Now, again, we are talking -- and these

cases deal with sustaining proof beyond a

reasonable doubt, not a question of probable

cause.
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"To sustain a murder conviction,

defendant, on the grounds that he knew that

his acts constituted a strong probability of

great bodily harm, there must be evidence

from which the tryer of fact could infer the

defendant knew, at a minimum, that his acts

harm to another individual; that the

defendant acted and that act resulted in the

death of another."

Okay, the Murder Statute contains, I

believe, basically three sub-sections to it.

One of them I alluded to, which is the

pointing of the gun and intent to kill.

That is one of the types of Murder that

there can be.

The other type is basically that you

know that your acts will cause the death of

someone. And then there is the version we

are dealing with here, whether the acts

created a strong probability of death or

great bodily harm. Okay. Does anyone at

this point have any question what the law

is? And I would suggest, if it hasn-rt
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already been done, that you read the Murder

Statute.

THE FOREMAN: Well, there were

questions. I think a couple of people

indicated, what is the difference between

First Degree and Second Degree?

There is a legal difference. The law is

different. It is not a question of degree

of conduct. It is First Degree or Second

Degree Murder under the law. You don't

examine the facts and the conduct of the

defendant and say while the elements may not

fit First Degree Murder, we believe it would

be more appropriate, in light of this

individual's circumstances, that he be

charged with a lesser crime. Under the

Second Degree Murder, the facts have to

establish that the defendant acted in an

unreasonable belief of self-defense -- maybe

you should read it, Kathy. _ don't want to

paraphrase what Second Degree Murder is. It

is not a matter of leniency in saying it is

more appropriate to be less than mor_q
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MS. CRESWELL:

Murder.

2o

There are different laws and different legal

issues.

Would you read it?

Let me read Second Degree

"A person commits the offense of

offense of First Degree Murder," and you

know what the definition of First Degree is,

"and either of the following mitigating

factors are present: one, at the time of

the killing, he is acting under a sudden and

intense passion resulting from serious

provocation by the individual killed or

another whom the offender endeavors to kill,

but he negligently or accidentally causes

the death of the individual killed, or, at

the time of the killing he believes the

circumstances to be such that if they

existed, would justify or exonerate the

killing under the principles stated in

Article 7 of this Code, but his belief is

unreasonable."

In other words, he believes i_ is
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self-defense but his belief is unreasonable,

and then it tells you that serious

provocation is conduct sufficient to excite

an intense passion in a reasonable person.

MR. KINSELLA: Let me give you the usual

example.

A _n co,,_c_ hc_c, "'_!_ .._ -_.._ __..-

bedroom and a guy is in bed with his wife,

and he pulls out a gun that he happens to

have on his person and kills him, or, that

the victim's conduct was such that the

person believed he had some right to self-

defense. But that belief is unreasonable.

Those are the two examples of Second Degree

Murder.

Yes, sir.

A JUROR: What about like if there is an

accidental murder? Is that still First

Degree Murder, then?

MR. KINSELLA: The third version of

criminal culpability for causing somebody's

death is Involuntary Manslaughter. That is

where the defendant's conduct was reckless.

Involuntary Manslaughter contains within in,
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as by way of example to you, reckless

homicide, vehicular homicide. The drunk

driver driving down the road runs into

somebody. That is contained by way of

analogy in recklessness and involuntary

manslaughter.

defendant's conduct was not such that it

created a strong probability of death or

great bodily harm but that his conduct was

reckless, and we can define -- read what

reckless is. It should be in the

definitions.

MS. CRESWELL: I did read you the

Involuntary.

MR. KINSELLA: Find Recklessness.

These are differing states of mind.

There are some exceptions, but for the most

part, we are talking about felony offenses

that require a mental state, mens rea,

intent, knowledge or recklessness. Intent

means you perform an act intending a certain

result. Knowledge is that you perform acts,

you know what acts you were performing. You
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may not necessarily intend the result of

those acts, but recklessness is --

MS. CRESWELL:

definition section.

MR. KINSELLA:

It is not in the

Not in the Murder

Statute. Can I see your book?

"A person is reckless or acts

recklessly when he consciously disregards a

substantial and unjustifiable risk that

circumstances exist or that a result will

follow, described by the statutes defining

the offense. If such disregard constitutes

a gross deviation from the standard of care

which a reasonable person would exercise in

the situation, an act performed recklessly

is performed wantonly," and a generally used

analogy for recklessness is firing a gUD

into a moving train or shooting a qun at a

moving train. You may not intend that

bullet to pass through somebody sitting in

the boxcar, but if, in fact, you shot at a

moving train, you are consciously

disregarding a substantial and unjustifiable

23



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

i0

ii

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

risk that those circumstances may exist

that result may follow.

24

or

Okay? Even though you didn't intend

to kill anybody, but act recklessly, if you

do that and somebody dies, you would be

guilty of involuntary manslaughter. That is

_x way

The confusion that concerned me is

on the intent to kill. If it was your

belief that the evidence must establish

probable cause with a belief and intent to

kill, that belief is incorrect.

Are there any other questions or

concerns as far as those definitions? Does

anyone have -- yes, sir.

A JUROR: I am having a hard time with

this. You know, I get into a fist fight

with somebody. I don't mean to kill

somebody but if I hit him and a guy falls

and whacks his head and gets a hemorrhage or

something like that, that is what I am

having my problem with in this thing.

MR. KINSELLA: We are not dealing with a

hypothetical set of facts.
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THE JUROR: I know that.

MR. KINSELLA: We are dealing with

specific facts, and you're decision is not

whether it is a good thing to indict this

person or a bad thing or a fair thing. You

are not here to consider favor or fear. You

_xe here to decide probable cause, _ T _

suggesting to you that the law is very clear

that i_ somebody strikes someone, whether it,

be with their fist or their hand, and we

note that the consequences and the results

are as indicated, that suqqests with what

force or velocity it was used and that that

conduct does not fit within the self-defense

sections we talked about in Second Degree

Murder or provocation sections. If it

doesn't fit within those, and that force

creates a strong probability of _reat bodily

harm and that person dies as a result of

those injuries, that that constitutes First

Degree Murder.

Now, your scenario would depend on,

if this was an unprovocated attack in which

you attacked someone, striking them and
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kicking them, and those facts are sufficient

to create a strong probability, in this

case, probable cause, to believe that that

creates a strong probable cause of great

bodily harm to that person and that person

dies as a result, yes, that is First Degree

Murder.

Whether that is the right thing or

wrong thing is not what you should be

concerned with. You are concerned with

whether there is probable cause to believe

that these facts fit that law.

Okay? It is not up to you to decide

equity and leniency. Okay? The tryer of

fact may do that. The Judge may do that.

The prosecutor may do that. You are here to

decide probable cause.

Yes, sir.

A JUROR: I understand where you are

coming from and the laws and guidelines, but

thenyou keep saying that you want to push

the Murder One issue. I mean, what we got

out of it and what we deliberated on, we got

nothing out of a Murder One case, and I'm
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sorry, that's what I felt at the time.

MR. KINSELLA: Well, what I am

suggesting is that -- take a step back and

separate from your consideration a motions

and leniency, and remember what your job is,

to believe that these facts satisfy the

that c_i_ "_ _ --_-_ _ _-

not a question of whether he was a good kid

or a bad kid or whether he just got out of

the penitentiary, whether he had been a

choir boy in the seminary his whole life.

The question is whether he performed acts

which created a strong probability of great

bodily harm and that person died as a result

of those acts.

Furthermore, there is a question to

believe -- that is probable cause -- to

believe that, and if there is confusion, I

want to be sure it is decided appropriately,

and if it was decided inappropriately, now

is the time to correct it. If all of those

proper considerations were made and that is

the result, so be it. And I am not here to

push anything. I am here to make sure



5

6

7

8

9

i0

ii

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

28

everybody follows the law. _kay?

Any other questions?

Kathy, is there anything else?

We brought some cases in here to

discuss with you. I don't expect you to

make all of you criminal lawyers in the next

will even leave them here, although there is

two types of cases here dealing with the

definition of great bodily harm and what

that term means, because, keep in mind,

there is a statute that maybe you dealt with

already, Aggravated Battery. Okay? It is

aggravated because the person knowingly

performs acts which result in great bodily

harm. Okay?

As the case says, there is not

precise definition of what that means.

Let me suggest to you that breaking

of bones and causing internal hemorrhaging

has been, many, many times, found to be

great bodily harm. Okay? The law doesn't

say precisely -- the law can't say if you

break two bones, that is great bodil_ harm,
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or if the cut is longer than three inches,

it is great bodily harm. There is no

precise definition like that. But the

definition of great bodily harm is generally

derived from the Aggravated Battery statute

which you dealt with. Remember, Aggravated

person to whom a simple battery is

administered or the results of that battery,

such as an aggravated battery, great bodily

harm.

Now, with the Murder Statute, we are

dealing with, in a sense, great bodily harm.

Aggravated Battery resulting in death, that

the death was proximity caused by those

injuries. Okay? So, if someone took a bat,

and hit you over the head and you got it

stitched up, I would suggest to you that

someone hitting you like that would

constitute great bodily harm. If you

survived, great. The guy is charged with

Aggravated Battery. If you died from those

injuries, that would constitute Murder.

Now, that is a different analogy
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because you have a weapon, "but if somebody

strikes you and you receive 20 "stitches by

him beating you up, I would suggest to you

that constitutes great bodily harm. If you

die as a result of somebody performing such

acts, creating a strong probability of great

Kathy, do you have anything?

What I would ask you to do right now

is -- and if I am correct and this is your

decision and you have followed the proper

considerations of the law and one of

probable cause, we are not here to prove the

defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt,

and you are not here to determine whether

the proof is sufficient to support a

conviction beyond a reasonable doubt, but if

you followed the law as I tried to clarify

it to you, and that is the result, so be it.

But I would ask you to reconsider, at this

point, the vote on the First Degree Murder.

If that is the result, or you want sometn±ng

else con_laered, remember what the options

are. She read to you the Second Degree
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Murder. If you see there is facts in there

that would suggest that he was acting in

reasonable belief of self-defense or based

upon some provocation, fine. I don't know

what those facts are, so, that only leaves

us with involuntary manslaughter, and you

..... _ _^ _-_-~ that t _^_^_=_'

conduct in strikinq with his fist or

kicking, if that is what you find happened,

I don't know if those are the facts or not,

but I believe there is some evidence of

that, you would have to say that that was

reckless on the part of the defendant, tha_

his conduct was reckless. Okay?

A JUROR: Where are these definitions of

strong probability and reckless found that

we can look at?

MS. CRESWELL: Strong probability is not

defined. Recklessness is defined at 4-6,

and if you want to look at intent for

intentional act, that is found at 4-4.

MR. KINSELLA: This section, Article 4,

Criminal Act and Mental State, defines

Voluntary Act, Mental State, Intent,--
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Knowledge, Recklessness and Negligence.

Okay? Generally, one of those

mental states is required as an element of

every crime. You usually don't have a

picture of an internal workings of the

defendant's brain at the time the act was

_ommltted, so, you oai_t use that kind v_-_

analysis. You generally look at the conduct

and circumstances to determine or interpret

what that person's state of mind was.

My example, if somebody points a

high powered rifle at somebody's head, puts

a bullet through their head, you don't know

what was going on in their mind, but that

act and those results would clearly prove an

intent to kill. Okay?

In this case, you have acts which

resulted in what, a broken jaw and the

internal injury. Okay? You can look to

those acts to determine whether that person

knew his conduct created a strong

probability of great bodily harm. Did you

believe that he has to know that he is going

to kill somebody? That is incorrect.
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A JUROR: I have a question. Do you

have the transcripts of the tape that we

listened to?

MS. CRESWELL: I have two transcripts.

They have not been corrected, so, if you

want to look at the transcripts, I can bring

..... _ to list .....

the tape.

A JUROR: I just wanted to refresh my

memory.

MR. KINSELLA:

question that you had before, if you have a

mutual combat situation, those facts are

different. If two people start swinging at

each other in a bar, as quite typically

happens, that is a different set of facts,

and you would want to know more about what

happened.

A JUROR: Well, I know one didn't

attempt to defend himself, obviously.

MR. KINSELLA: Because if he died and

there is probable cause to believe that he

did not perform acts likely to cause death

or great bodily harm and it doesn't "_it

Just to follow up on that
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within either of the two mitigating

circumstances of First and Second Degree --

keep in mind, Second Degree is murder plus

the existence of mitigating circumstances.

That is what Second Degree is. Okay? It is

not a different -- I mean, it is different

.......... b_ _ it is not _nd _ .... _

own. It is murder plus the mitigating

circumstances, so, if it isn't either of

those things, the only other option is that

his conduct was reckless. Okay? And

generally speaking, when somebody makes

fist, throws it at somebody's face and hits

them, that is usually not a reckless act,

but if he is doing that intending to hit

somebody and has knowledge that that is

going to cause some injury, all right, now,

you might look at the results of this to

determine that it is probable that injury

could be great bodily harm, and if the

result is broken bones in t w_ face, that is

the circumstances you should consider.

Okay?

Anything else?
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I will let you deliberate. If you,

during your deliberations, have questions,

let us know. We are here to answer the

questions about the law.

And I will leave these here.

(The Grand Jury

d_libcratcd,

afterwhich the

following further

proceedings were had

herein:)

THE FOREMAN: Based on the clarification

that you have brought forth, we have changed

our decision originally and we will go with

the First Degree Murder charge, True Bill.

MR. KINSELLA: Thank you. If there are

any more questions, and when time permits, I

will, if you want, come back and we can

discuss this more. Maybe not this case

specifically, but we will discuss the law

and the theory.

I appreciate the opportunity to

clarify things, and thank you.

MS. CRESWELL: Thank you.

35
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MS. CRESWELL:

witness?

(The Grand Jury

attended to other

matters on the

calendar, afterwhich

the following further

proceedings were had

herein, o ,__ _

hearing and presence

of the Grand Jury:)

Would you swear in the

(The oath was thereupon

duly administered to

the witness by the

reporter.)

MS. CRESWELL: If the record could just

reflect that it is June the 16th at

approximately 4:35 p.m. and the Grand Jury

has just concluded for the day.

36
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J O H N F. T A N N A H I L L,

called as a witness herein, having been

first duly sworn• was examined and testified

as follows:

EXAMINATION

By: Ms. Creswell

spell your last name for the court reporter?

A John F. Tannahill,

T-a-n-n-a-h-i-l-l.

Q And what is your business or

occupation?

A Police officer, Village of Westmont.

Q Officer Tannahill, did you have

occasion to be present here in the Grand

Jury room and present testimony today for

some indictments?

A Yes, I did.

Q Or at least for one indictment; is

that right?

A That is correct.

Q And were you present for the morning

session or the afternoon session?

A I had arrived at approximately
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quarter to one this afternoon.

Q And were you told then that the

Grand Jury wasn't going to resume until

approximately 2:00 p.m.?

A That is correct.

Q From the time that you arrived until

reconvened, where were you waiting?

A I was waiting out in the foyer,

outside the Grand Jury room.

Q were the doors locked to get into

the Grand Jury room?

A Not into the waiting area, no.

Q So, you were in the waiting area

right outside here; is that correct?

A That is correct.

Q Not out in the hallway?

A Not out in the hallway.

Q And as you were in the waiting area,

were there Grand Jurors present?

A Yes, they were.

Q Were they wearing badges which

identified themselves as Grand Jurors?

A Yes, they did.

38
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Q Other than yourself, did you see any

other police officers in uniform?

A Yes, I did.

Q Approximately how many were present?

A There was one more from Lisle P.D.

Q Do you know his name?

Jury hearing this afternoon also.

Q All right. While you were in the

waiting room and members of the Grand Jury

were present, did one of the Grand Jurors

speak to you?

A Yes, he did.

Q Can you just give me a general

description of that Grand Juror's

appearance?

A Yes, he had light salt and pepper

hair, male white, approximately, I would

say, late 30's, early 40's. I don't

remember what he was wearing, but he was

about five, eight, five, nine, maybe 140,

150 pounds.

Q Where were you when you first heard

that Grand Juror say anything? _-
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A I was sitting in a chair in the

waiting area.

Q Where was he?

A He was at the window facing south.

Q And that window, have you looked

into that window?

A Yes, I have.

Q That window looks down into the

library of the State's Attorney's office; is

that correct?

A That is correct.

Q And when he was at that window, did

you hear what he said?

A Yes, I did.

Q What did he say?

A He related that there were a group

of people down there brainstorming, I

believe his terminology was, over a case

that they had heard earlier that morning.

Q Do you recall any more specific

words that he used at that time?

A "They are down there trying to work

up a different charge on what we had already

heard."
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Q And did you then have a conversation

with him?

A Yes, I did.

Q And what did you say to him and what

did he say to you?

A He approached the coffee area where

I _a_ _itt_ _v_ _ _ _ _ _o_ _,_

got into a conversation about Texas and a

few other places, and he mentioned a case

that they had heard earlier, reference to a

homicide.

Q What did he say about the case?

A He related that they were over-

brainstorming about a homicide case to get

another charge because they had got a No

Bill on a First Degree Murder.

Q And what did you say and what did he

say?

A At that point I said "A No Bill on a

First Degree Murder?" And at that time he

said "Yes, the State fails to prove that the

subject had intent to kill the other

subject."

Q Do you recall any more conver-sation
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with him?

A Yes, we discussed it further. He

related to me that the facts of the case did

not hold up to the charge; that he would

consider a Manslaughter charge a better

charge and they would approve that over

Q And did he say why he thought

Manslaughter was a better charge?

A Because he felt that the intent of

the person who had killed the other subject,

the intent was not there, the kid did not

intend te kill him. He intended to get into

a fight with him, such as a bar fight in

Texas where you would step outside and have

a fight and settle the problem.

Q And after that conversation, were

you still in the waiting room when myself

and John Kinsella returned to the Grand Jury

waiting room?

A Yes, I was.

Q And did you then have occasion to

relate that information to myself and Mr.

Kinsella?
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A Yes, I did.

MS. CRESWELL:

questions.

Thank you.

I don't have any more

All right, officer Tannahill, you

just indicated that he did relate further

correct?

A That is correct.

Q And what other information did the

Grand Juror say to you?

A He related to me that the facts of

the case were, it was two kids fighting and

the one kid had died and there was no

weapons involved, and he feels it was just a

fist fight and it wasn't the intent of the

subject to kill the other one, just to beat

him up.

Q Did he have any further conversation

about the facts?

A Just basically that he felt that

First Degree Murder was not a good charge.

Q Approximately how long did your

conversation with him last?
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Presiding Justice CAMPBELL delivered the opinion

of the court:

*1 Following a jury trial in the circuit court of Cook

County, defendant Patrick Tainter was found guilty of

the murder of Yvonne Johnson. The trial court found

defendant eligible for an extended ter,n sentence and

sentenced hma to 75 years ,n the lllino,s Department

of Corrections. Defendant now appeals.

The record on appeal indicates tile following facts.

Betbre trial, detbndant filed motions m hmine to bar

certain evidence. One motmn sought to bar testimony

regarding acts of violence toward Johnson committed

by defendant with,n the six years prior to tile mnrder.

Another motion sought to bar reference to a ix)stable

wt_ap(n] nlen_loll_] lU ho.,,pllal record,_,. The trial conrl"

denied both Hie|lens

At trml. Wflham RamJrez leSllhed thai on April 14.

1994. Johnson. who was tile annt of Rannrez's

"colnnlon law" wife, was staying at Rannrez's

apartment. At approxnnately 9 p.m., Rmmrez saw
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Johnson and defendant laying on the living room

couch; defendant and Johnson had been dating for 13

years. Ramirez asked defendant or the couple to

leave. Defendant and Johnson left at 1:30 a.m.

Ramirez testified that Johnson returned at 1:45 a.m.,

bleeding from the mouth and nose. Johnson went to

the bathroom, washed up, and slept on the couch.

On the morning of April 15, 1994, Ramirez saw that

Johnson's face and lips were swollen. When Johnson

spoke, the words did not sound "right," as though her

tongue was swollen. Ramirez asked Johnson what

happened. After speaking to Johnson, Ramirez

suggested that she go to the hospital, but she declined.

Ramirez did not see Johnson eat or drink that day; he

tr,ed to feed her, but she could not chew. Jolmson

stayed in bed the entire day, which Rarnirez testified

was unusual for her.

On April 16, 1994, Johnson remained in bed.

Ramirez again tried to feed Johnson, but was

unsuccessfid. Johnson's right cheek was getting

darker; her lips continued to swell. Ramirez had a

neighbor, Georgianna Starr, watch Johnson while he

went to the grocery store. Starr testified that

Johnson's face and jaw were swollen, with a dark

braise on the rtght side. Although her speech was

slurred, Johnson told Starr how she was injured.

Both Ramirez and Start suggested that Johnson go to

the hospital, but Johnson declined.

On April 17, t994, Ramirez saw that Johnson's face

was still black and swollen. Johnson could barely

walk. The first time that Johnson went to the

bathroom that day, she limped and appeared weak.

The second time that Johnson went to the bathroom,

Ramirez helped her due to her weakness. While she

sat on the toilet, Johnson slumped forward and had

passed blood. Johnson asked Ramirez to telephone

for an ambnlance. The paramedics arrived

approxinmtely 15 minutes later. Johnson was carried

out of the bathroom by paramedics and Georgianna

Start. Johnson's eyes were rolling; she was unable

to speak to anyone. Johnson was ultimately taken to

Illinois Masonic Hospital.

Dr. Abralmm Jacob testified that he treated Johnson

when she was brought into the emergency room at

al)proximately 11 a.in. on April 17, 1994. Dr. Jacob

testified that Johnson was in a "shockey state," with

multiple contusmns to her right shoulder, left breast,

right knee and the right side of her face. Johnson's

face was swollen. Dr. Jacob noticed that Johnson was
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mottled "all over. blotchy, reddish, like bhn',h."

According to Dr. Jacob, x-rays revealed that Johnson
had a fractured mandible and older fracture,; of the

ribs. Johnson had a cut and scrape of the knee.

Rectal bleeding was also noted.

*2 In addition, Johnson was "markedly janndiced,"

which Dr. Jacob stated was caused by liver thdure.

Based on mtbrnlatson from Jolmson's tannly, Dr.

Jacob was aware that Johnson was I_emg treateA tnr
c_rrhosls of the liver. Dr. Jacob was also aware that

Johnson was being treated i'or a possible stomach

ulcer, high blood pressure and a prior infection. Dr.
Jacob testified that he had recewed reformation from

Johnson's family "or whomever was with her" and the
paramedics that Johnson had been assaulted with a

blunt object three days earlier. Dr. Jacob testified
that there were "two different versions;" one involved

a crow bar, one involved a two by four. Johnson was

admitted to the intensive care unit, with complete

respiratory support.

In the early morning hours of April 18, 1994.
Johnson was m a coina. Johnson was unable to

I)roduce urine, despite being given dlnretlcs and
intravenous fluids. Dr. Jacoh testll']eA that Johnson

d_ed between 5:30 and 6 that mormng.

Dr. Joseph Cogan, an Assistant Foren,_le Medical

Extmuner with the Cook County Medical Examiner's

Office. testified that on April 19. 1994. he lYertornled

an autopsy on Johnson. Dr. Cogan testified that

Johnson was approxnnately 5'2" tall, v, elglnug 191

lYounds. Dr. Cogan catalogueA Johnson',, mlurles.

mcludmg swelling and hemorrhaging el tile scalp and

shoulders, Inlunes to the back ot the head,

heulorrhaging on both sides of the head, discoloration

of the right side of her lace and her right ear, and
contusions of the left breast area. There was also

bruising of the chest, right breast and upl_er al×lomen.

Dr. Cogan stated that trauma to the body--various
blows to the body--causes hemorrhage underneath the
skin.

Dr. Cogan also testified regarding tile fractured

mandible. Dr. Cogan stateA that it was very hard to

break an adult law m tile manner Johnson's law was
broken. Dr. Cogan testified that it would take "a
considerable amount of three."

Dr. Cogan opmed that Johnson died am a conseqnence

ot ulultiple mlurles from a beating. The t'racture of

Johnson'.; law produced a disruption m tile barrier
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between tile mouth and tile inside of her body,

allowing bacteria to spread through her head, neck
and shoulders. Ultimately, Johnson's organs shut

down due to the bacteria spreading through her body,

Dr. Cogan testified that the hemorrhaging in this ease

was consistent with "a punch, a kick, a blow with

some object, a lot of different things * * *." Dr.

Cogan testified that defendant may have used a two by
four to inflict some of the blows against Johnson. Dr.

Cogan testified that the hospital records mentioned the

possibility tlmt a crow bar or a two by four was used

in tile beating, and that he later learned of the

possibility of a fist or foot. Dr. Cogan also testified

that a two by four could cause a fracture of the kind
involved in this ease, but that he would not list a crow

bar as a likely weapon.

The parties stipulated that Chicago Police Detective

T. O'Connor would testify that he was assigned to

investigate the homicide of Johnson on April 18,

1994. During the course of investigation, he left a
business card with det_ndant's sister. On the evening

of April 18, 1994, defendant telephoned Detective

O'Connor and agreeA to speak with Detective
O'Connor regarding the homicide. Defendant met

Detective O'Connor and then agreed to accompany

him to the police station. Defendant was interviewed

by Detective O'Connor and Assistant State's Attorney
(ASA) Bigane. Defendant was arrested at 2 p.m. on

April 19.

*3 ASA Virginia Btgane testified that she interviewed

defendant at 3 p.m. on April 19, 1994. Following

Miranda warnings, det_ndant stated that he had been

Johnson's boyfriend for 12 years. On April 14, 1994,

defendant and Johnson had been drinking alcohol in

Chase Park, then went to Ramirez's apartment.

Ramlrez ordered defendant out of his apertment.
Defendant asked Johnson to leave with him. Ramirez

continued to order defendant to leave; defendant kept

asking Johnson to go with him until she agreed.

Alter leaving tile apartment, defendant and Johnson

went to an outside alley arext. Johnson suggested to

tile defendant that they go to Rudy's house because
she had a key to the house. Defendant told ASA
Blgane that the t'act that Johnson had another man's

house key made lure mad and jealous, Defendant told
ASA Bigane that he punched Johnson in the face,

whiell caused Johnson to spin around. Johnson

attempted to grab onto a dumpster to regain her

balance. Defendant told ASA BIgmle that he then gave
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Johnson a "ronnd-house" kick to her back side,

swinging his leg around his body to gain momentum.

Defendant told ASA Bigane that when Johnson

attempted to get up, defendant again punched Johnson

m the jaw. Jolmson fell to tile ground. Defendant

then kicked Johnson in the body numerous times,

pamcularly the back and ribs, whde Johnson was on

the ground, yelling for help and for defendant to stop.

Defendant told ASA Bigane that he then got

Johnson's purse and threw it at Johnson, saying

"Here's your damn bag." Defendant left Johnson on

the ground. Defendant returned to Chase Park, where

he tell asleep. ASA Bigane testified that defendant

was cooperative, but declinexl to have his statement

transcribed by a court reporter or to sign a

handwritten statement.

Witnesses also testified regarding prior violent acts

by the defendant. In each instance, tile trial court

instructed the jury that the evidence was bemg

admitted on the issue of defendant's intent, motive or

absence of an innocent state of mind and should be

considered only for that limaed purpose. Johnson's

daughter, Kelly Weme; testified that in the summer of

1989, she saw defendant "back-hand" Jolmson "so

hard it almost knocked her off her seat * * * "

Ramirez testified that five months before Johnson

die,d, he saw defendant slap Johnson's face so hard

that blood came out of her mouth. Rannrez testified

that defendant and Johnson had been arguing about

whetlaer to go out that day. Oeergianna Starr testifiexl

that two moat/is be/bre Johnson died, she saw

delendant push Johnson onto a couch during an

argument. Starr also lesttfled that ,;ix years earhel.

_he hed seen detendant punch Johnson m tile eye

duriu_ all argtiinelll.

Following closing argument and jury instructions, the

jury found defendant guilty of nmrder. The trial court

denied defendant's post-trial motion. During

sentencing, Johnson's famdy presented victim impact

statements. The State also introduced evidence of

prior felony convictions for co,aceabnent of a

homicidal death, robbery and burglary. The trial

cotirt, finding that defbndant's actions were bnital and

savage, sentenced defendant to an extended term of 75

years m prison. Defendant now appeals.

*4 lmttally, defendant contends that he wa'_ demed a
taw trial because the trial court refusexl to msttaict the

inry on tile lesser offense of involuntary

ananslaughter. The basic difference between

involuntary manslaughter and mnrder is the mental

state accompanying the conduct causing the homicide.

People v. Foster, 119 lll.2d 69, 87, 518 N.E.2d 82,

89 (1987). A person commits first-degree murder

when he "kills an individual without lawful

justification * * * [and] either intends to kill or do

great bodily harm to that individual or another, or

knows that such acts will cause death to that

individual or another; or he knows that such acts

create a strong probability of death or .great bodily

harm to that individual or another." 720 5/9-1(a)(1),

(a)(2) (West 1996). A person commits involuntary

manslaughter when he "kills an individual without

lawful iustification * * * if his acts whether lawful or

unlawful which cause the death are such as are likely

to cause death or great bodily harm to some

mdivKlnal, and he performs them recklessly." 720

ILCS 5/9-3(a) (West 1996).

In a murder trial, it is error to refiJse an instruction

on involuntary manslaughter if there is any evidence

in the record which, if believed, would reduce the

crime to the lesser offense. People v. Rodgers, 254

llI.App.3d 148, 152, 626 N.E.2d 260, 263 (1993).

Defendant notes that Illinois recognizes that death is

not ordinarily contemplated as a natural consequence

of blows from bare fists. People v. Braekett, 117

lll.2d 170, 180, 510 N.E.2d 877, 882 (1987)(and

cases cited therein). Defendant also argues that the

evidence that he had been drinking prior to the killing

is evidence of recklessness. People v. Bembroy, 4

Ill.App.3d 522, 526, 281 N.E.2d 389, 393 (1972).

Accordingly, defendant relies on cases such as

People v. Taylor, 212 lll.App.3d 351, 570 N.E.2d

1180 (1991). In Taylor, the evidence indicated:

"that both defendant and the victim were

intoxicated, tile victml more so than the defendant.

Defendant punched [the victim] in the face one time,

causing him to fall to the ground. From the medical

examiner's testimony, tt appear [edl that this fall, in

winch [the victim I hit his head on the concrete,

rather than the blow, caused the injuries which

resulted iri death. Defendant then proceeded to kick

and hit [the victim] as he lay on the ground. The

evidence Iwa.sl conflicting as to whether defendant

was punching or slapping [the victiml as he lay on

the ground. Defendant testified that he was hitting

[tile victual in an attempt to awaken or arouse him.

Defendant also tried unsuccessfiilly to pick [the

wctmq up several times. Defendant testified that he

was attempting to place [the victim] in his ear to
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rest, or to an)use [the vtcttml. [Tile vtctlm]'s head

h,t tile concrete when det;eqdant dropped hnn.
However, there [was] no evidence that defendant

dropped [the victim] with the intent to kill or harm

him." Taylor, 212 Ill.App.3d at 356-57, 570
N.E.2d at 1183.

*5 This court concluded that this evidence was

sufficient to .lUStdy Instructing tile jury on tile offense

of ,nvohmtary manslaughter. Taylor, 212 lll.App.3d
at 357, 570 N.E.2d at 1183.

However, an invohmtary manslanghter instruction

should not be given if the evidence clearly
demonstrates that the crime was murder and there is

no evidence wlfieh would reduce tim crime to

involuntary manslaughter. People v. Ward, 101 lll.2d
443, 451,463 N.E.2d 696, 699 (1984). Factors to be

considered when determining whether there was

evidence of recklessness which would support the

givmg of an invohmtary manslanghter mstructton
include: the disparity in size between the defendant

and the victim; the brntality anti duration of the

beating; and tile sevemty of" tile VlCtlnl's tnlurte'_.

Rodgers, 254 lll.App.3d at 153, 626 N.E.2d at 263.

An invohmtary manslaughter instruction ts not

warranted where the nature of tile killing, shown by
either multiple wounds or tile victml's

defenselessness, reveals the mapl)hcabdtty ot the

theory. People v. Trotter, 178 III.App.3d 292. 298.
533 N.E.2d 89.92 (1988).

In tilts case, there was a disparity m .,ize between tile

defendant and the victim, although tlus is not a case
where an adult has killed a child as in the Ward line

of cases. The record shows that at the tmle of the

killing, defendant was 36 years old, 5' 9" tall,

weighing 170 pounds. Johnson was 56 years old

(though appearing younger), approximately 5' 2" tall,
weighing 191 ixmnds.

Tile record also discloses both tile duratmn and

brutality of tile beating and ,lohn,,on',, relatl,,e

defenselessness. After punching Johnson m tile lace

with sufficient force that Johnson tu spun around,
defendant dehvered a "round- house" kick that sent

Johnson to the ground. When Johnson attempted to
get up, det;endant punched Johnson m the law.

Defendant continued to punch and kick Johnson

numerons tuues while she was on the grotmd, causing

andtiple mlUmes. The record contains tat)evKleq,:e that
delendanl was able to defend herself.

The medical te',tnnon). _hov_ that defendant',,

jawbone was broken and that it takes a great deal of
force to cause such a fracture. Indeed, while

defendant's statement refers to kicking Johnson in the

back and ribs, the medical testimony also contains

evidence of multiple instances of trauma to Johnson's

herod and bruising of Johnson's chest and upper
atxlomen.

Unlike Taylor, there was no conflicting evidence
regarding the nature of the blows struck after Johnson

was on the ground. Instead, the case is more similar

to Rodgers, in which this court held that the

involuntary manslaughter instruction was not

warranted where the victim died of bleeding over the

surtheo of the brain, due to blunt force injury, after

defendant repeatedly punched the victim in the thee.

Furthermore, the State introduced evidence to show

defendant's intent and the absence of accident,
Detimdant contends that the trial court committed

reversible error by permitting this testimony.

Evidence of prior acts of misconduct is admissible if

relevant tbr some puq)ose other than to show a
propensity for crime, and if the probative value of the

evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect. People v.

Burgess, 176 lll.2d 289, 307, 680 N.E.2d 357, 365

(1997). For example, the State may seek to present
evidence of prior acts of abttse committed by the

defendant against the victim, to show the presence of

intent and the absence of accident. Burgess, 176

lll.2d at 308,680 N.E.2d at 366. In such cases, only

general sumlanttes between tile different acts are

necessary. Burgess, 176 Ill.2d at 308,680 N.E.2d at

366. A trial judge's decision allowing the

introduction of evidence of this nature will be upheld

unless the ruling represents an abuse of discretion.

Bnrgess, 176 Ill.2d at 307, 680 N.E.2d at 365.

*6 Tile record in tiffs case shows that tile trial court

considered the puq_oses for which tile evidence was

offered, as well as the probative nature and prejudicial

impact of the evidence, hetbre ruling that the evidence

would be adnusstble. In tins case, as the apl;eXd
tlemonstrate,,, tile defendant's me,ltal state was very

much at issue. The prior acts of abuse by defendant
were relevant to show intent mad the absence of

,mstake. Indeed, such prior incidents could be highly

probatxve on the question of defendant's awareness of
the effects of a given amount of physical force on
Johnson.

Tile record also shows that during volt dire, the trial

court asked whether evidence of prior acts of violence
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comnutted by tile defendant against tile vtctml would

affect their abthty to decide tile case. Tile trial court

also instructed tile jury each tune such testimony was

ehcitexl that the evidence was being adnutted on the

issue of defendant's intent, motive or absence of an

innocent state of mind and should be considered only

tbr that lilmted purpose.

Given this record, we cannot conclude that the trial

court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony

regarding defendants prior abuse of Jolmson. [FN1]

This evidence was consistent with the intent that can

be inferred from the medical testimony regarding the

force necessary to produce the severity of the injuries

here and from defendant's own statement admitting

that he contmuexl to kick and punch Johnson numerous

times after he knocked her to the ground. The record

contains evidence that defendant had been drinking

several hours before the beating, but no evidence that

he was intoxicated at the time of the beating.

In snm, the record clearly shows tile crime of murder

and contains no evidence that defendant did not know

that ILL', beatlng el Johnson created a strong

probabdity of death el great boddy harni to Jolmson.

Accordingly, tile trial court did not err Ill t'ehL',lUg to

give tile mvohmtary manslaughter mstrnctlon.

Defbndant next contends that tile trial court

committed reversible error by admitting "anonymous

multiple hearsay that speculated on the existence of a

weapon." Specifically, defendant obJects to the

testimony of Dr. Jacob and Dr. Cogan regarding

information that Johnson could have been assaulted

with a crow bar or a two by four. Hospital records

have a high degree of reliability. Wilson v. Clark, 84

lll.2d 186, 194. 417 N.E.2d 1-322, 1326 (1981).

Expert witnesses may consider not only medical

records commonly relied upon by members of their

profession in foruung their opinions, but they also

may testify as to the contents of these records. People

v. Pasch, 152 lll.2d 133, t76, 604 N.E.2d 294, 311

(1992). A medical exannner may testify, ba.,,ed on

medical reports and fronl tile exanuner's own

ol'L'.,ervatlolls of tile evidence, wlll_.'tl weal)ong /night

have been usexl ill a crllne. See Pet)pie v. K.idd. 175

lll.2d 1, 34-35,675 N.E.2d 9t0. 926-27 (1996).

In tills case, Dr. Jacob testzh_t regarding tile

possibdity of a weal×m m response to a question

asking how Dr. Jacob knew the proper course of

treatment, since Jolmson was unable to speak. The

record shows that the testimony was elicited as part of

the basis for Dr. Jacob's opinions. The transcript also

shows that Dr. Cogan was accepted as an expert in

the field of forensic pathology, a field Dr. Cogan

described as including:

*7 "examining deceased individuals, determining

cause of death, performing autopsies * * *,

testifying in [c]ourt in regard to * * * autopsy

findings, [and] assisting police or other people to

understand the medical findings and origins of

trauma and causes of death."

Thus, Dr. Cogan was qualified to render the opinion

that Johnson's death was caused by multiple injuries

from a beating and to explain what sorts of objects,

such as a fist, a foot, a two by four or a crow bar are

consistent with the bhmt tranma at isstie in this case,

particularly where tile objects discussed are those

mentioned in tile hospaal records.

Defendant relies on cases such as People v. Ramey,

237 lll.App.3d 1001, 606 N.E.2d 39 (1994), in which

this court rifled that tile medical examiner's opinion

was improl_r because it lacked a proper foundation

and the State sought to use the underlying facts and

data for substantive purposes. Defendant's brief

attacks the lack of foundation for the testimony at

lsstte. However, the record shows that defendant

made no objection to Dr. Jacob's testimony in his

post- trial motion. Defendant has not shown that he

objected on fbundational grounds at trial Thus,

defendant has waived the argument.

Similarly, defendant argues that he was denied a fair

trial becanso the State allegedly used the testimony at

issue for substantive:purposes. While an expert may

disclose the underlying facts, data and conclusions for

tile limited purl'_,se of explaining the basis for his

opinion, the contents of reports reliexl upon by exports

would clearly be inadmissible as hearsay if offered for

the truth of the matter asserted. Pasch, 152 Ill.2d at

176, 604 N.E.2d at 311. However, as with the

fbundahonal argument, defendant failed to raise this

objection in his post-trial motion, resulting in waiver

on aplYeal. Moreover, the record shows that at trial,

defendant oblected to only one of the references cited

m his brleL Tile defense objected to tile statement

that tile fracturing of Johnson's jaw was "tile kind of

break that a kick might be able to do or maybe even

something like a two by four." Such a comment,

winch was the only specific reference to a two by four

in tile State's closing argnaments, not reversible error.

See People v. Wicks, 236 llI.App.3d 97, 603 N.E.2d
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594 (1992). In sum, defendant ha,, taded to _lx)w
reversibleerror.

Ill Fmally, defendant argues that his sentence should

be vacated, contending

that he is ineligible for an extemled term sentence and
that the sentence is

excessive in any event. Defendant has waived review

of his sentence by Iris

failure to file a ix)st-sentencing motion pursuant to
section 5-8-1 (c) of the

Unified Code of Corrections. People v. Reed, No.

81422 (I11. Sept. 25,

19971, slip op. at 4.

Nor does there appear to be plato error m tile
sentencing at issue. Defendant contends that he is

ineligible for an extended term sentence. The trial

court tbund defendant eligible for two separate
reasons: (11 the offense was accompanied by

exceptionally brutal or hemou.', hehavtor mthcattve ot

wanton cnlelty (730 ILCS 5/5-5-3.2(b1(21 fWe._t
199411; and (2) the defendant had been convicted ot

first degree murder and convtcte.d ,_ll a ,,eparate

ot't_nse nnder sectton 5-5-3(c)(21 within tile prior 10

years (see 730 ILCS 5,'5-5- 3.2(b1(71; 730 ILCS 5/

5-5-3(c)(2) (West 19941/. On December 13, 1990,

defendant had been convicted and sentenced pursuant

to section 5-5-3(e)(2)(F), which applies when a

defendant is convicted of a Class 2 felony within 10
years of a prior Class 2 felony conviction. Both of

the convictions were for burglary.

*8 Regarding tile prior convictton under _ectx)n

5-5-3(c)(2)(F), defendant argues that "ltlhe cro_,,,-
reference [in section 5-5-3.2(b)(71 I, winch carries tts

own ten-year hmltat_on, ts so cumbersome and

wreaking of double enhancement that tilelegislature

could not rationally have intended it to quality a,, an
extended term provision." However, the cases

defendant cJtes m slipport of this a_ument, People v.

Ferguson, 132 111.2d 86, 547 N.E.2d 429 (1989), and

People v. Whtte. 114 111.2d 61. 490 N.E.2d 467

tl986), tie not mvol',e the_e statntor) pro',l',t_ln_.

Moreover. there l.,.only one enhallcelnent ot2cnrrln_ Ill

tilts proceeding. Furthermore. asstllnlng argnendo
that tins nsa case ot douhle enhancenlent, thai result t',

not nup¢oper where the legislature intended the result.

People v. Thomas, 171 lll.2d 207. 224, 664 NE.2d

76, 85 (19961.

wlthm the prior I0 ye_rs may provide the predicate
tot an extended term sentence, 730 ILCS 5/

5-5-3.2('0)(7). It is not irrational that the legislature

would provide that a defendafit who had been
recidivist at the level of Class 2 felonies who then

commits first degree murder would be eligible for an
extended term sentence. Defendant notes that the first

of his prior burglaries did not occur within I0 years of
his murder conviction, but section 5-5-3.2('0)(7) does

not require that both Class 2 felonies fall within 10

years of the murder convictmn. Thus, detbndant was
eligible for an extended term sentence.

Defendant's brief states in passing that the State's

request for the extended term sentence appeared

"solely vindictive" because he was allegedly offered a

20 year sentence as part of a plea agreement.
Defendant cites no authority in support of his

argument. Generally, it is not improper or evidence

of prosecutonal vindictiveness to otter a defendant a
reduced sentence as an incentive to plead guilty as

part of a plea agreement hut to recommend a greater
sentence when tile State's offer was refused,

particularly where the sentence imposed falls within

the statutory gmldelines. See People v. Walton, 240
lll.App.3d 49, 60, 608 N.E.2d 59, 67 (19921.

Defendant further contends that the sentence imposed
was excessive, even if he was eligible for an extended

term. Sentencing is a matter for the discretion of the

trial court; its decision is entitled to great weight and
deference. People v. La Pointe, 88 lll.2d 482, 492-93,

431 N.E.2d 344, 348 (19811.

Defendant maintains there were no aggravating
factors to this honucide. When a sentence is

enhanced to Class X because of prior convictions, the
trial court may not use tile same convictions as

aggravating tatters. People v. Ward, 243 lll.App.3d
850, 852, 611 N.E.2d 590, 592 (19931. However, the

trial court could allocate the rest of defendant's prior

convtctx)ns toward aggravation. Cook, 279 llI.App.3d
at 727-28, 665 N.E.2d at 305. In this case, aside

tronl the two burglaries, the trial court could consider

that defendant had prior convictions tbr aggravated
battery, theft, concealment of a honticidal death and

robhery. Moreover, even if no aggravating factors
are present, defendant is not entitled to a near-

mmimunl sentence. People v. Harvey, 162 lll.App.3d
468, 475,515 N.E.2d 337, 342 (19871.

In thts situation, tile statute clearly provides that a

defendant sentenced 1)ursuant to sectx)n 5-5-3(c)(2)

*9 Tile record m tills case indicates that the trial

conrt carefully considered the statutory factors in
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aggravation and mitigation, and even considered non-

statutory factors in mitigation. The sentence imposed

falls within the lower half of the statutory range.

Thus, there was no abuse of dtscretion in imposing

the sentence in this case.

For all of the aforementioned reasons, the judgment

of tile circuit court of Cook County is affirmed.

Affinued.

O'BRIEN, J., concurs.

BUCKLEY, P.J., dissents.

Prestdmg Jnsttce BLICKLEY dissents:

1 must respecthtlly thssent. [ beheve that tile

evtdence was sni'tlClent to instil) , tastructnlg tile tnry

on the offense o1 mvohmtary manslattghter and failnre

to do so constitutes revers,hie error.

It is well established that an instn,etion defining a

lesser offense should be given if there is evidence in

the record that, if beheved by the jury, would reduce

the crime to a lesser-included offense. People v.

Valdez, 230 llI.App.3d 975, 985 (1992). There was

evidence in this case to warrant a jury instruction on

mvohmtary manslaughter.

A person contacts mvohmtary manslaughter when he

"unintentionally kills an mdlvldt, al without lawfid

justification * * * [and] his acts whether lawfill or

tmlawfitl which cause the death are such as are likely

to cause death or great bodily harm to some

mdividual, and he performs them recklessly." 720

ILCS 5/9-3 (West 1992). The crux of the offense of

tnwlltultary manslaughter LS recklessness. A

"reckless" mental state LSa "consciotls disregard of a

st|hstantial and tullnstffml"de risk that circumstance.',

exist or that a result will lollow." 720 ILCS 5/4-6

(West 1992). The malonty, relying oil three factors

set forth i,1 People v. Rodgers, 254 lll.App.3d 148,

153 (1993), conchtdes that there was no evidence of

recklessness to support the giving of an mvohmtary

manslaughter instruction. I resl_-+ctfidly disagree.

Regarding tile first factor, the majority briefly notes

that there was a dmparity in size between Johnson and

defendant. However, consideration of this factor does

not defeat an instruction for invohmtary manslaughter

m this case. hi People v. Drunlheller. 15 lll.App.3d

418 (1973)+ the case cited m Rodgers, the defendant

killed a 14-month-old child by punching it in the

stomach. The court held that a fatal blow from a fist

may constitute murder where there is a great disparity

in size and strength between the defendant and

decedent. Drumheller, 15 llI.App.3d at 421. There

is no great disparity here. As the majority points out,

this is not a case where an adult has killed a small

child. See e.g. People v. Ward, 101 III.2d 443 (1984)

01olding that involuntary manslaughter instruction was

unwarranted where evidence showed that savagely

brutal beating of four-year-old victim with mop handle

resulted in bruises to the chest muscles, lungs, and

brain and were too numerous to be counted). In fact,

Johnson who was 5'2" and weighed 191 pounds was

20 pounds heavier than defendant who was 5'7" and

wetghed 170 pounds. Certainly this factor provides

no barns fbr preclusion of. the invohmtary

manslaughter instruct,on.

*I0 Tile majority next cites the "duration and

brutality of the beating" and file nature of Johnson's

injuries as factors which preclude a finding of

recklessness. I again respectfldly disagree with the

majority's conclusion. According to defendant, he

struck Johnson in the face causing her to spin around

and grab onto a dumpster to regain her balance.

Defendant then kicked Johnson in her back side and

then punched her in the jaw. Johnson f_ll to the

ground and defendant kicked her in the back and ribs

"numerous" times. The majority analogize this case

to People v. Rodgers, 254 lll.App.3d 148 (1993).

However, the beating in Rodgers was quite different.

In Rodgers, the victim was asleep on a conch when

defendant approached and very forcefillly punched the

victim in the face approximately 7 to 13 times. The

victim died almost immediately thereafter due to

bleeding over the surface of the brain. Rodgers, 254

tll.App.3d at 153. In the instant case, Johnson was

ahle to get up, walk home, wash her face and remain

ambttlatory for a clay or two. Johnson refimed

reed,ell treatme,lt. The medical testimony presented

at trml was that Johnson had bruises on her right

shoulder, left breast, right knee and right side of her

face. Defendant caused no broken bones other than

the jaw. Defendant caused no injuries to vital organs

and no, lae+eratj.ons. Defendant did not use a lethal

weapon. Johnson died as a result of a bacterial

refection due to the neglected treatment of her broken

jaw, not as a direct result of the blows inflicted by

defendant. Her injuries, unfortunately, did not appear

life-threatening to anyone. This was not a "savagely

brntal" beatmg certain to cause death. Rather, this

was a sudden and short episode brought on by a
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jealous rage. Tile beating took place wtthm a

15-minute interval from the tm_e she left her home

w_th defendant to the tuue she retnrned--alone.

Additionally, the parties had been drinking several

hours befbre wluch constlnltes additional evidence of

recklessness. See People v. Bembroy, 4 lll.App.3d

522, 526 (1972).

The evidence could support a finding that defen&mt

did not reasonably know or intend deadly

consequences. Defendant and Jolmson had been

dating for over 13 years. Defendant had been

physical with Johnson in the past. Enraged and

jealous over Johnson's possession of another man's

housekey, defendant struck her. The jury could have

found that defendant was reckless in hittmg Johnson,

but that defendant did not intend to kdl her and dal not

know tlmt his actions would have such a result. The

jury could reasonably have tbtmd that the fact that

detendant gave Jolmson her purse befbre he left was

mdscattve of Ins lack of murderotts intent since ltad

defendant known that Johnson's death was mmunent

lie probably would not ha',e retun_ed her purse.

Moreover. John.son hersel! did not even seek tnedlcal

treatment |br her mlnrtes anti rehtsed tile otter el her

nephew's assistance ,n obtaining mexhcal treatment.

Page 8

*!! Because even slight evidence tending to show

involuntary manslaughter entitles a defendant to the

jury instruction (People v. Jenkins, 30 llI.App.3d

1034 (1975)) I would reverse and remand this cause

fbr a new trial.

FNI. Defendant also complains that the trial court
rejected the defense request to change the word

"offenses" to "conduct" in submitting Illinois Pattern

Instruction 3.14, limiting the consideration of the

collateral incidents, to the jury. See IPl Criminal 3d
No. 3.14 (199°-). However, defendant does not

expressly claim error, let alone reversible error. Nor

did defendant ere any authority on this point in his

brief. Thus, the argument is waived on appeal. Nor

is there a question of plain error. The eommitte¢
notes to the most recent version of IPI Criminal 3d

No. 3_14 explain that the tenn "conduct" is to be

used v,here defendant's actions are not technically an

"offense." As the State points out in its brief, the
incidents in this ease are in the nature of batteries.

This is not a ease where, conduct not generally

considered an offense--e.g, adultery, membership in

a street gang--is used to prove motive. Accordingly,
defendant cannot show the trial court abused its

&seretion on this point. Cf People v. Curtis, 262

lll App3d 876. 890-91, 635 N.E.2d 860, 871

(1994l

END OF DOCUMENT
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